# PETROTOX User's Guide PETROTOX\_v3.06.xlsm

CONC.006 May 16, 2006 Updated January 9, 2007 Updated March 12, 2007 Updated September 4, 2007 Updated April 16, 2009 Updated July 16, 2009 Updated October 17, 2011

### CONTENTS

<u>Sec</u>	tion	<u>Page</u>
1	INTRODUCTION	1-1
2	FRAMEWORK and CONCEPTUAL MODEL	2-1
	2.1 Composition and MAPPING	2-1
	2.2 Three-Phase DISTRIBUTION (Solubility) Model	2-2
	2.3 Target Lipid Model	2-4
	2.3.1 Bioavailability correction	2-6
	2.3.2 Predicted No Effect Concentration (PNEC)	2-7
3	SPREADSHEET model overview/organization	3-1
	3.1 Input	
	3.2 Output LL50	
	3.3 Output Loads	
	3.4 Detailedout	
	3.5 Charts	
	3.6 CTLBB	
	3.7 CONCAWE Library	
	3.8 Definitions and Supporting Information	
4	STEPS for MODEL EXECUTION	4-1
5	APPLICATIONS	5-1
6	DISCLAIMER of WARRANTIES and LIMITATION of LIABILITIES	6-1
7	REFERENCES	7-1

### FIGURES

- Figure 1. Schematic of redistribution of unassigned mass
- Figure 2. Input Sheet
- Figure 3. Output LL50 Sheet
- Figure 4. Output Loads Sheet
- Figure 5. Charts Sheet
- Figure 6. CTLBB Sheet
- Figure 7. CONCAWE 1457 Sheet
- Figure 8. Parameters Sheet
- Figure 9. Command Button Labels
- Figure 10. Resolution Selection Form
- Figure 11. Bioavailability Correction Options Form
- Figure 12. Acute or Chronic Mode Selection Form
- Figure 13. Mass Scaling Options

### INTRODUCTION

This spreadsheet-based model, PETROTOX, is designed to calculate the toxicity of petroleum products to aquatic organisms. Petroleum hydrocarbons are complex mixtures that exert a narcotic mode of toxic action, which is assumed to be additive. This model calculates the solubility of a petroleum product and then uses the Target Lipid Model (TLM) (Di Toro et al. 2000) and toxic unit theory of additivity to calculate the toxicity or environmental risk limits of these mixtures.

The spreadsheet uses a three-phase (air, water, free product) oil solubility calculation (McGrath et al. 2004) that is coupled with a database of physical and chemical properties of typical petroleum hydrocarbons to calculate the distribution of petroleum hydrocarbons among the exposure water, headspace and free product phases. The properties database was developed by CONCAWE and contains physical/chemical properties such as boiling point, solubility and octanol-water partition coefficients ( $K_{ow}$ ) for 1457 hydrocarbon structures that are possibly found in petroleum products. This version of the Petrotox model performs the solubility and toxicity calculations with physiochemical properties derived from the database for each hydrocarbon block.

The computed dissolved hydrocarbon concentrations are then used by the TLM to calculate aquatic toxicity. A modification to the TLM is the use of membrane-water partition coefficients ( $K_{MW}$ ) rather than  $K_{OW}$  to describe the partitioning between the water phase and the organism (Parkerton et al 2011). This modification is critical for petroleum products that have very hydrophobic compounds ( $\log(K_{OW}) > 6.0$ ).

### FRAMEWORK AND CONCEPTUAL MODEL

### 2.1 COMPOSITION AND MAPPING

The model can accommodate two types of inputs, low resolution or high resolution, which depend on the information known about the mass distribution of the petroleum product. In the low-resolution approach, the mass distribution of two general chemical classes (aliphatic and aromatic) is entered over user-defined boiling point intervals. This format is patterned after the information given from simpler hydrocarbon block analyses. In the high-resolution approach, the mass distribution for up to 16 chemical classes can be entered: *n*-paraffins, *iso*-paraffins, *n*-substituted cylcohexanes, *n*-substituted cylcopentanes, other mono-naphthenics, di-naphthenics, poly-naphthenics, *n*-olefins, *siso*-olefins, sulfur-bearing aliphatics and sulfur-bearing aromatics. This format is patterned after the information derived from highly detailed GCxGC that provides mass distribution information for the 16 chemical classes over discrete carbon number (C#) intervals. These hydrocarbon blocks (C# and chemical class) are used for environmental fate and effects estimates for complex petroleum substance. The CONCAWE database contains structures for each of these 16 chemical classes over a range of physic-chemical properties

The library structures are assigned to a hydrocarbon block and the mass fraction given to that block is evenly distributed among all of the assigned structures. For example, a hydrocarbon block in the *iso*-paraffin class is assigned a mass fraction of 5.0% with an initial carbon number (CNo) interval of C9-C10. The CONCAWE library is sorted for structures within the *iso*-paraffin class that fall within the defined CNo interval. In this case there are eight *iso*-paraffins in the database within this CNo interval (ID: 676, 677, 678, 679, 681, 682, 683, 684). The mass fraction of this hydrocarbon block (5.0%) is evenly distributed among the candidate structures so that each has 0.625% of the total mass. The mass fraction that is assigned to each structure is later used to determine the mole fraction of a given hydrocarbon, which impacts the aqueous solubility of that structure.

If a hydrocarbon block has a chemical class and/or CNo interval configuration that does not identify any representative structures in the database the mass fraction of this so-called 'orphan' block is reassigned to a neighboring block. The unassigned mass in these 'orphan' blocks is added to a neighboring block generally within the same chemical class where there are structures available for assignment depending on the boiling point configuration of the block. If the CNo interval for the 'orphan' block is above C14 in high resolution mode, or the boiling point interval above 275.2 °C in low resolution mode, the unassigned mass is added to the first available hydrocarbon block at higher boiling point intervals. This is done to account completely for all of the mass at any given

loading. See Figure 1 for a simple depiction of the mass reassignment procedure. 'Orphan' blocks below this BP value are added to the first available hydrocarbon block at a lower boiling point interval. This is based on the distribution of hydrocarbon structures in the database (See Appendix 1). In a few cases where there are no hydrocarbon structures within the same chemical class available for the mass reassignment, the unassigned mass is added to the first available chemical class to the left (unassigned PolyAr mass added to structures in NDiAr block, etc. See Figure 1) within the same boiling point interval. The mass in orphan blocks from the *n*-Paraffin class is reassigned to the available block to the right (unassigned *n*-Paraffin mass added to *iso*-Paraffin mass).

### 2.2 THREE-PHASE DISTRIBUTION (SOLUBILITY) MODEL

The following equations describe a multi-phase (petroleum product, water, air) dissolution model that considers the changes in product volume and composition as a result of dissolution. Several models for computing equilibrium concentrations in multiphase systems have been presented elsewhere (McGrath et al. 2005 and references therein) and only a brief outline of the equations are presented here. The mass balance for component *i* in the system is

$$m_{T,i} = m_{G,i} + m_{W,i} + m_{A,i} \tag{1}$$

where  $m_{T,i}$  is total mass of component *i* in the system and  $m_{G,b}$   $m_{W,b}$  and  $m_{A,i}$  refer to the mass of component *i* in the product, water, and air phases, respectively. The mass balance can be expressed in terms of volume and concentration of component *i* 

$$m_{T,i} = V_G C_{G,i} + V_W C_{W,i} + V_A C_{A,i}$$
(2)

where

 $C_{G,i}$  = petroleum product phase concentration of *i*, mol/L<sub>G</sub>  $C_{W,i}$  = water phase concentration of *i*, mol/L<sub>W</sub>  $C_{A,i}$  = air phase concentration of *i*, mol/L<sub>A</sub>  $V_G$  = volume of petroleum product, L<sub>G</sub>  $V_W$  = volume of water, L<sub>W</sub>  $V_A$  = volume of air, L<sub>A</sub>

Assuming petroleum products are an ideal mixtures (Di Toro et al., 2007), the equilibrium between the product-phase concentration and the total water-phase concentration ( $C_{w,i}$ ) is described by Raoult's Law

$$C_{W,i} = x_i S_i \tag{3}$$

where  $x_i$  is the mole fraction of component *i* in the product phase and  $S_i$  is the aqueous solubility of component *i*. The concentration of the monomeric species is calculated in a similar manner

$$C_{D,i} = x_i A_i \tag{4}$$

where  $x_i$  is the mole fraction of component *i* in the product phase and  $A_i$  is the aqueous activity (e.g., monomer solubility) of component *i*. For many compounds with  $\log(K_{OW})$  less than approximately 5.5 the activity is equal to the sub-cooled solubility indicating that these compounds do not form polymeric species. And in for some compounds with  $\log(K_{OW})$  greater than 5.5 the activity can be a very small fraction of the sub-cooled solubility (< 0.001) indicating that the monomer species is a small fraction of the total dissolved chemical.

The Henry's Law describes the equilibrium between the air phase concentration and the water phase concentration of the monomer species

$$H_i = C_{A,i} / C_{D,i} \tag{5}$$

where H<sub>i</sub> is the unitless Henry's Law constant for component *i*.

The relationship between the product phase concentration on a mole fraction basis and a mol/L basis is via the petroleum product density,  $\rho_G$  (mol/L)

$$C_{G,i} = x_i \rho_G \tag{6}$$

Substituting equations 3, 4, 5, and 6 into equation 2 and solving for the mole fraction yields

$$x_{i} = \frac{m_{T,i}}{(V_{G} \ \rho_{G}) + V_{W} \ S_{i} + V_{A} \ H_{i} A_{i}} \tag{7}$$

There is one three additional equation needed to describe the system. The mole fractions of the components in the petroleum product sum to 1

$$\sum_{i} x_{i} = 1 \tag{8}$$

There are a total of n + 1 equations and n + 1 unknowns ( $n x_{\rho}$  and the product of  $V_G \rho_G$ ). This system of equations is solved numerically as described below. The inputs are the total mass  $(m_{T,p})$  the solubility  $(S_i)$ , Henry's Law constant  $(H_i)$  and density  $(\rho_i)$  of each component *i*, as well as the volumes of air and water in the system  $(V_A \text{ and } V_W)$ .

The strategy is to minimize the error in Equation 9. The procedure is coded into a Microsoft Excel<sup>TM</sup> 2010 spreadsheet using the Visual Basic for Applications (VBA) programming language. The starting value for  $V_G \rho_G$  (the mass of petroleum product) is obtained by assuming all the mass is in the product phase.

$$(V_G \rho_G) = \sum_i m_{\mathrm{T},i} \tag{9}$$

An iterative method is used to vary the  $V_G$  until the overall sum of the working mole fractions is 1.0.

#### 2.3 TARGET LIPID MODEL

For the risk assessment of petroleum-derived products, it is accepted that the mode of action of petroleum related hydrocarbon components is via narcosis (CONCAWE, 1996). Chemicals that act via narcosis are referred to as narcotics. It has been demonstrated experimentally that the effects of narcotics are strictly additive. This is important for petroleum products since they consist of mixtures of hydrocarbons. The toxic unit (TU) approach is used to express the toxicity of mixtures with components that exert a similar mode of action. The TLM (Di Toro et al. 2000) and the TU concept have been adopted for use in computing environmental risk limits for mineral oil (Verbruggen, 2004).

The TLM predicts the aquatic toxicity of narcotic chemicals to a variety of aquatic species, including fish, algae and invertebrates. It is based on the inverse relationship observed between the log(LC50) (lethal concentration to 50% of test organisms) and log( $K_{ow}$ ) and the observation by McCarty et al. 1991 that this relationship can be understood as the result of a constant body burden of narcotic chemical that causes adverse effects. In the TLM a single universal slope for the log (LC50)-log ( $K_{ow}$ ) relationship has been demonstrated, independent of species. The TLM equation for computing the LC50 (mmol/L) for a particular chemical for a specific species is

$$\log LC50 = -0.936 \log Kow + \Delta c + \log C_1^* - \log ACR$$
<sup>(10)</sup>

where  $\Delta c_{\ell}$  is the chemical class correction factor for chemicals that were found to be slightly more potent than baseline chemicals (e.g, PAHs), -0.936 is the universal slope, and  $C_L^*$  is the speciesspecific critical target lipid body burdens (CTLBB) for narcosis effects (µmol/goctanol) and ACR is the acute-to-chronic ratio. The ACR is used to convert acute effects (e.g., LC50, ACR of 1) to chronic effects levels (e.g., NOEC, LC10, ACR of 3.83). The TLM has been recalibrated with current  $log(K_{ow})$  values extracted from SPARC v4.2 in May 2008 (Hillal et al., 2004). The revised TLM parameters are provided in the worksheet labeled 'CTLBB' for 42 organisms including daphnids, fish, algae and other species. The parameters include the CTLBB, universal narcosis slope, chemical class corrections and their associated standard errors. Chemical classes that require a correction include the mono-, di- and polyaromatic hydrocarbon classes. The acute-to-chronic ratio can be applied here to calculate chronic effect concentrations.

For application to petroleum products, the term LL50 (lethal loading concentration) is used instead of the LC50 due to the insoluble nature of most petroleum products. Additionally, for application to petroleum products, the  $K_{TLW}$  (target lipid-water partition ratio) is used in place of  $K_{OW}$  as follows

$$\log K_{TLW} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.947 \log K_{OW} + \Delta C & ; \text{ for } \log K_{OW} < 6\\ 6 + \Delta C & ; \text{ for } \log K_{OW} \ge 6 \end{bmatrix}$$
(11)

The overall result is that the maximum  $\log(K_{TLW})$  is 6.0 even for structures with very high  $\log(K_{OW})$  values (>15). This adjustment dramatically limits the impact that super-hydrophobic hydrocarbons have on the calculated toxicity. Without the adjustment, the predicted LL50s were orders of magnitude lower than observed LL50s indicating that the model over estimated the toxicity. The reader is referred to Verbruggen 2004 and Parkerton et al 2011 for additional details on the derivation of the K<sub>TLW</sub> cutoff. There is an option available to the user where the cutoff and slope of the cutoff can be customized to meet specific the needs of a specific application.

The toxicity of the petroleum product (hydrocarbon mixture) can be expressed using the concept of TUs (Sprague and Ramsay, 1965). A TU is defined as the ratio of the exposure concentration of the freely dissolved chemical (equation 4) to the effect concentration for a specific medium (e.g. water). The monomer species is assumed to be the bioavailable form of the total dissolved hydrocarbons. A toxic unit posed by each specific hydrocarbon block *i* in a mixture is computed as

$$TU_i = \frac{C_{W,i}}{LC50_i} \tag{12}$$

where  $C_{w_i}$  is the aqueous freely dissolved concentration of the hydrocarbon block (mmol/L) and LC50<sub>*i*</sub> is the aqueous effect concentration (mmol/L) for that block for a specific species as derived from equation 12 or 13. To compute the toxicity of the mixture, the TUs for all hydrocarbon

components in the mixture are summed. When the sum of the TUs for the mixture equals one, the mixture is expected to be toxic to 50% of the organisms.

Loading data are not required for the model to calculate median acute or chronic effect endpoint (e.g., LC50). The model starts with an initial guess at the loading and calculates solubility and the subsequent toxic units, iteratively changing the load with each pass until the final toxic units equal 1.0 according to the following definition:

Acute Toxic Units = 
$$1 = \text{Load}(i) / \text{mod el} - \text{calculated LL50}$$
 (13)

Or alternatively for chronic effects (e.g., ACR = 3.83):

Chronic Toxic Units = 1 = Load(i)/model - calculated chronic effects level (14)

#### 2.3.1 Bioavailability correction

Under certain exposure conditions the partitioning of hydrocarbons to the test organisms can reduce the bioavailability of dissolved hydrocarbons. For example, in algal exposures there can be substantial particulate organic carbon (POC) concentrations (1-2 mg/L) from the algal cells. The particulate algal carbon acts as a sorbent for dissolved hydrocarbons. The organic carbon partition coefficient ( $K_{oc}$ ) and the fraction of dissolved hydrocarbon are calculated following equilibrium partitioning theory (EqP) (Di Toro et al. 1991):

$$\log(K_{\rm OC}) = 0.00028 + 0.983 * \log(K_{\rm OW})$$
(15)

Fraction dissolved = 
$$1/(1 + POC * K_{OC})$$
 (16)

If lipid concentrations are entered with the corresponding biodilution option selected then the  $\log(K_{MW})$  value is used to calculate the fraction of dissolved hydrocarbons in a similar manner

Fraction dissolved = 
$$1/(1 + \text{Lipid Concentration } * K_{MW})$$
 (17)

There are four bioavailability correction options in the model. The first option, Option 1, is to proceed with the calculations and assume that no correction occurs. Option 2 allows the user to enter POC concentrations in units of mg POC / L water. Under typical test conditions algal cell density can reach  $10^5$  cells/ml (i.e., CONCAWE-kerosene data), which corresponds to a POC concentration near 2 mg/L assuming a cellular C-content of 20 pg/cell (Mayer et al. 1998). The model will calculate the fraction of dissolved hydrocarbons that is bioavailable according to the POC partitioning model described by equations 17 and 18. Option 3 will perform the same calculation with a default POC concentration of 2 mg/L, representing a typical upper bound. Options 2 and 3

are usually enabled during calculations for algal endpoints but the calculation can be performed for any species in the TLM database, including the user-defined option. If Option 2 is selected but no POC concentrations are entered, the model will proceed with POC concentrations of zero. Option 4 allows the user to enter lipid concentrations in place of POC concentrations. A convenient estimate of the lipid concentration by calculating an organism loading (g wet weight / L water) from the exposure condition and assuming at lipid content of 5% or with other estimation techniques or measurements. The fraction of bioavailable hydrocarbons is calculated with membrane-water partition coefficients as described in equation 19.

#### 2.3.2 Predicted No Effect Concentration (PNEC)

Aquatic PNECs were calculated for each of hydrocarbon structure according to the  $HC_5$  equation as described in (McGrath et al., 2004). The equation was modified to calculate the  $HC_5$  with target lipid-water partition coefficients ( $K_{TLW}$ ) instead of  $K_{OW}$  as described in equation 11.

$$\log(HC_{5}) = E\{m \log(K_{TLW})\} + E\{\log(C_{L}^{*})\} - E\{\log(ACR)\} - k_{Z} \sqrt{V\{m \log(K_{TLW})^{2}\} + V\{\log C_{L}^{*}\} + V\{\log (ACR)\}}$$
(18)

m = universal target lipid slope (-0.936) HC<sub>5</sub> = hazardous concentration to 5% of test species, mmol/L  $C_L^*$  = mean critical target lipid body burden, µmoles/g octanol ACR = mean Acute to Chronic Ratio  $\Delta c_{\ell,i}$  = chemical class correction  $k_Z$  = 95% confidence extrapolation factor

where the E{log ( $C_L^*$ )} is the logarithmic value of the geometric mean of all critical target lipid body burdens (µmoles / g octanol) in the TLM database (Di Toro et al. 2000a with Sept. 2005 recalibration) and has a value of 2.13. The mean ACR for all species in the toxicity database is 3.83 for hydrocarbons (McGrath and Di Toro. 2009). The term ' $k_Z$ ' is the 95% confidence sample sizedependent extrapolation factor and has a value of 2.21. The variance in the universal target lipid slope (V(m)) is 2.25E-4 and the variance in the  $C_L^*$  ( $V(\log(C_L^*))$ ) is 0.015. The variance in the ACR ( $V(\log(ACR))$ ) in the ACR is 0.126. In addition, a chemical class-correction of -0.352 for di- and polyaromatic hydrocarbons and a correction of -0.109 for monoaromatic hydrocarbons are included in these calculations since these compounds exhibit slightly higher toxicity than other hydrocarbon classes that conform to "baseline" ecotoxicity. Additional validation of PETROTOX are provided in Redman et al., (2011).

2-8

### SPREADSHEET MODEL OVERVIEW/ORGANIZATION

This version of the spreadsheet model is password protected so that critical portions of the model are not inadvertently lost or modified. The spreadsheet interface and visual basic code are all protected so that error messages will appear if text or calculations are attempted in the interface sheets in locations that are not specifically intended for data entry. Colored cells indicate the data entry fields. The password for the spreadsheet interface, in all caps, is: CONCAWE. The password protection will be reinstated after every calculation. This is done to prevent inadvertent deletion of key data required to run the model. The nine worksheets in this spreadsheet are briefly described in this section.

### 3.1 INPUT

This worksheet is used to enter product-specific or application-specific data that are required to use the model (Figure 2). These data includes mass fraction distribution by chemical class and boiling point range, product loading information, and exposure conditions. Also, in this sheet the user can select the target species endpoint, input resolution, and bioavailability correction options. The colored boxes in the 'Input' worksheet are where the user inputs information necessary to run the model. There are two modes for inputting compositional data that correspond to GCxGC (High resolution) and TPH (Low resolution) analytical approaches. Compositional data for High resolution is organized by discrete chemical class (n=16) and carbon number. Compositional data for Low resolution is organized by total aromatic and total aliphatic general chemical classes and boiling point. The orange-shaded section indicates an input range for carbon number or boiling point intervals. The light blue (cyan) color indicates a section for entering mass fraction information. The purple shaded section is for entering dose response information: loadings, effect data, or particulate organic carbon concentrations. The pink cells are for entering the dimensions of the exposure chamber: water and headspace volumes. The user may also input date and title information specific to the petroleum product being analyzed in the top two cells in column C. These features will be discussed in more detail later on in this guide.

### 3.2 OUTPUT LL50

This output sheet (Figure 3) has information related to the calculated acute or chronic endpoint. The product loading is reported at the LL50 as well as the distribution of toxicity via toxic units for different chemical classes and boiling point intervals (hydrocarbon blocks). Average physical/chemical properties of the hydrocarbon blocks are also reported in this sheet. Average PNEC values calculated with the HC5 equation (McGrath et al. 2004) for each hydrocarbon block are reported. PNEC values that are greater than the computed water solubility of a given

hydrocarbon block are indicated in bold red numbers. The concentrations of hydrocarbons in the three different phases (water, headspace, free product) are provided here. If the headspace volume was set to zero in the model run, then the headspace results will return concentrations of zero. Likewise, if the product completely dissolves (no product phase) the model will report concentrations of zero for this phase of hydrocarbon blocks.

There is a 'Chart' button that will create stacked bar and pie charts that portray the distribution of toxic units among different chemical classes and hydrocarbon blocks. These charts are printed in the 'Charts' worksheet. There is a 'Copy Input/Output' button that will copy the input and output pages from the output sheets to a new workbook so that different model scenarios can be recorded. This worksheet is hidden when dose-response calculations are performed.

### 3.3 OUTPUT LOADS

The output loads worksheet (Figure 4) is similar to the 'Output LL50' worksheet in that the average physical/chemical properties of the hydrocarbon blocks and the concentrations of the hydrocarbons in the different phases are reported. The results are provided in this sheet for each product loading specified in the 'Input' worksheet, rather than at the LL50. A 'Chart' button similar to the one found in 'Output LL50' can be used to generate similar stacked bar and pie charts for each of the product loadings and the 'Copy Output/Input' button is also available. The avgPNEC is reported here for comparison to the computed water solubilities. Note, the PNEC is independent of product loading. This worksheet is hidden when LL50 calculations are performed.

### 3.4 DETAILEDOUT

This worksheet contains detailed output of the assignment and mass allocation of the library structures to the user-input hydrocarbon blocks. The outputs indicate which block and chemical class an individual compound is assigned to as well as the mass fraction allocated to that compound. For reference the compound ID is also given along with the  $\log(K_{OW})$  and PNEC. The results for predicted air, water and oil-phase concentrations are also given along with the TLM-predicted toxic unit. These data can be compared to the summarized outputs in the 'Output - ...' worksheets. Only the results for the last loading analyzed from the dose response or LL50 calculation modes. This worksheet is intended to report the mapping of representative structures to the hydrocarbon blocks and the subsequent mass distribution among the assigned structures.

### 3.5 CHARTS

This sheet will include charts that are generated from the output worksheets. The charts will remain in place until the next set of calculations is performed – at that time the existing charts are cleared to make space for a new series generated with the 'Chart' button. Only a bar chart is produced for each product loading showing toxic unit distribution over the hydrocarbon blocks. The charts have a number of text boxes that reflect the details of a given model calculation. The

data plotted in the charts are found in the output sheet where the 'Chart' button was activated. See Figure 5. The charting feature is only active under the high resolution mode.

### 3.6 CTLBB

This worksheet lists the CTLBB for 42 species that are in the TLM database. There is also a drop-down menu where the user can select the ACR. There is the default option of 4.47 (McGrath et al. 2004) or a user-defined option for specific applications. This worksheet also displays the assignment of chemical class corrections that are used for toxicity modeling as well as the constants used in the HC5 calculation that is described in greater detail elsewhere (McGrath et al. 2004). See Figure 6. Also in this sheet are options for entering user-defined target lipid-water partitioning parameters (near cell H39).

### 3.7 CONCAWE LIBRARY

Physical and chemical properties data computed with SPARC for 1512 library structures are stored in this database. The TLM is calibrated with SPARC  $\log(K_{ow})$  values and to maintain internal consistency within the spreadsheet model, physicochemical properties extracted from SPARC are used in all solubility and toxicity calculations. All physicochemical parameters correspond to conditions of standard temperature (25 °C) and pressure. There are several columns of property data: Molecular Weight, Boiling Point, Sub-Cooled Solubility, Activity,  $\log(K_{ow})$ , Henry's Law Constant and a few other data fields necessary to run the model calculations. Physical/chemical properties in this database were calculated with EPA's properties calculator SPARC at standard temperature and pressure. PNEC values are computed with the HC5 equation and those PNEC values that are greater than the sub-cooled solubility are highlighted in a light blue color with bold numbers. See Figure 7.

#### 3.8 DEFINITIONS AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION

This worksheet contains a list of the parameters and their definitions used in the spreadsheet. Acronyms are defined and the units of the various input/output parameter concentrations are described here as well. A key to the chemical class assignments and toxicity corrections is provided so that the user will be able to track the mapping of library structures to the input description. See Figure 8.

### **STEPS FOR MODEL EXECUTION**

This section contains generalized step-by-step instructions for entering data and running the model. There are detailed examples provided in the Demonstration files of the SETAC short course materials (SETAC 2011). The command buttons and input data fields on the 'Input' sheet are all labeled on Figure 9.

1. Select input resolution. See Figure 10.

Near cell B17 there is a button labeled 'Set Input Resolution' that, when activated, gives the user two options related to the input format of mass fraction: high-resolution and low-resolution. These input formats determine how the model assigns structures from the library database to the hydrocarbon blocks as discussed earlier. Whenever this button is activated the previous inputs will be cleared to prepare the spreadsheet for a new set of inputs in the selected format. The user must save their input data prior to switching resolution formats since the input/output data will be lost with each new calculation. Once a calculation is performed there are command buttons in the output sheets that enable the user to copy the input and output sheets to a new worksheet so that the user can track their progress through different analyses.

The high-resolution format displays 16 chemical classes where mass fraction data can be entered. This data field appears between cells E19 and T70 and is highlighted in light blue. There are 100 possible entry lines for hydrocarbon blocks. The model expects data to be entered in the first available row of the data field (Row 21). Additional hydrocarbon blocks must be entered in the next available row. If there are gaps in the blocks of entered data the model will not read the inputs correctly.

The low-resolution option will clear the previous format and data and display two columns with light blue shading in cells E19 to F70. These two columns allow the user to enter mass fraction information for the general aliphatic and aromatic chemical classes.

### 2. Enter mass fractions and boiling point

The data that the user enters into the light blue cells are the mass fractions of a given hydrocarbon block in units of weight percent so that the sum of all of the mass fractions equal 100%. See the Tutorials for detailed examples. The number of entries in the first orange-shaded boiling point data field (Cells C21 to C70) sets the number of hydrocarbon blocks that the model works with internally. All mass fraction and boiling point interval information for a given block must be entered on the same line. Each block can have a value between 0 and 100% but the sum of mass fractions in all of chemical classes in each hydrocarbon block must add up to 100%. If the

sum of the mass fractions does not add to 100% then the model will interrupt the model calculations and prompt the user to correct the inputs. See Step 8.

The orange-shaded cells in columns C and D are used to enter CNo or boiling point information that defines the interval used to extract library structures from the Concawe library database for mapping and assignment purposes. The initial CNo or BP is entered in column C and the final CNo or BP in column D. Interval entries that are above or below the maximum or minimum CNo or BP of the database are highlighted with bold blue or bold red coloring, respectively. Structures with a CNo or BP greater than or equal to the initial interval mark and less-than the final interval mark is mapped to this hydrocarbon block. Then, these structures are assigned mass fractions according to the user-defined distribution of mass fractions among the different chemical classes. The model expects the intervals to be entered with the lowest range in the first hydrocarbon block row (row 21) and the next highest range in the second row and so forth. Otherwise the reassignment of unassigned mass in the 'orphan' blocks will not be performed properly.

### 3. Enter volume of exposure conditions

Once the mass fractions and boiling point intervals are entered, the user must set the volume dimensions of the exposure scenario. This information is entered in the pink-shaded cells C6 and C7. If no values are entered the model assumes default values of 0.9 L of exposure water with a 0.1 L headspace for a total system volume of 1.0L, which is equivalent to a system with a 10% headspace. The minimum headspace volume can be 0.0 L. The headspace can be an important phase for particularly volatile petroleum products like gasoline products where much of the product load volatilizes to the headspace.

### 4. Select species/ACR

The next step is to select the species-specific CTLBB from the drop-down menu located near cell F5. If the CTLBB for a desired species is not available, a user-defined CTLBB can be entered. The units of the CTLBB values are  $\mu$ moles/g octanol. Similarly, on the 'CTLBB' sheet there is a drop down menu where the user can select either the default ACR or enter a custom ACR in cell K5.

Also in this spreadsheet, the user may enter application-specific parameters to describe the membrane-water partition cutoff. There is a drop down menu and a series of notes explaining the parameters and their typical applications near cells H39 in the 'CTLBB' sheet.

### 5. Select bioavailability correction options. See Figure 11.

Once the species is selected, a dialog box will appear and prompt the user to select from one of four bioavailability correction options: (1) No correction, (2) User-defined particulate organic carbon (POC) concentrations, (3) default POC concentration of 2.0 mg/L and (4) lipid

concentration in mg/L. The bioavailability options can be reset at any time by activating the button labeled "Bioavailability Mode" near cell G9. Activating this button will cause the dialog box to reappear so the options can be set. The current options are displayed in cells F11 and G11. These cells are critical to the model's performance and their contents should not be changed independently of the command buttons or drop-down menus. If option 1 is selected the model will proceed under the assumption that all of the model-calculated dissolved hydrocarbons are bioavailable. The model will ignore any particulate organic carbon (POC) concentration values entered in the data field in column P rows 6 to 15, shaded in purple in the 'Input' sheet.

During dose response calculations POC or lipid concentrations need to be entered in every line where loading information is entered when options 2 or 4 are selected. During acute or chronic endpoint calculations with these options, the user will enter the POC or lipid concentration in cell P6 as indicated by the message that appears in cell Q6.

### 6. Enter loading information

This step depends on the calculation option that is selected in Step 7. If the user desires to run a dose response for a series of product loadings then these values are entered in the purpleshaded cells in column N, rows 6 to 15 in units of mg product/L exposure water. The model can accommodate up to 10 loads. The user may also input effect data (i.e. mortality) in column O. The effect data are not used in the model calculations and are only used to generate charts in the 'Output – Loads' sheet of effect data versus model-calculated toxic units. The units of the effect data column are percent response (%) but the actual interpretation of these values is left to the user. These data can be used for analyses of the model results.

### 7. Select calculation button

There are two calculation buttons: 'Calculate End Point' and 'Calculate Dose Response'. Activating either button will direct the model to read in the data entered in steps 1 through 6 and will immediately display several dialog boxes in series while setting up the calculations (See Figure 12). The first box will prompt the user to select either the acute or chronic calculation mode. The acute mode is the default toxicity calculation mode.

### 8. Mass scaling options. See Figure 13.

After the calculation type is selected, a second dialog box will appear if there are imbalances in the mass fraction entries. If the sum of the mass fractions as entered in Step 2 is greater than 100.005%, the model will stop the calculations so that the user can correct the inputs and retry the calculation. If the mass fractions are substantially less than 100% (< 99.995 %) then the model displays a warning message stating that there is a mass imbalance and reports the summed mass fractions (Figure 13,A). Immediately following this message another dialog box appears with 3 options: (1) Scale up to 100%, (2) Apply to non-toxic n-paraffin, (3) Stop Calculations.

Option 1 will evenly scale up all of the entered mass fractions until the sum of the mass fractions is 100%. Option 2 will assign the difference between the sum of the mass fractions and 100% to a non-toxic *n*-paraffin. Under this option, the input sheet will be modified to include an additional hydrocarbon block that immediately follows that last user-input block. The narrow boiling point range that is displayed brackets the boiling point of *n*-Hentriacontane, a C31 *n*-paraffin (ID: 1021). Although this structure has a particularly high  $\log(K_{ow})$  of 17.78 and very low solubility of ~10<sup>-15</sup> mg/L ensure that this hydrocarbon block will not appreciably affect the toxicity calculations and that it is essentially inert.

### 9. Output sheets

There are two output sheets that correspond to the calculation command buttons on the 'Input' sheet. The 'Calculate End Point' button prints results to the 'Output – LL50' sheet. The model calculated critical product loading (in mg product / L water) for acute or chronic endpoints is reported in a purple-shaded cell C7. The toxic units from the calculation are in cell C8 and should be 1.0 for this calculation mode. In a few cases when petroleum products are not acutely (or chronically) toxic and the toxic units do not reach 1.0, a message is displayed indicating that the desired endpoint was not reached and the maximum toxic units are reported. The acute or chronic endpoint is reported as >1000 mg/L in cell C7 and the maximum toxic units are displayed in cell C8. The maximum toxic units can be reached at loadings substantially lower than 1000 mg/L and a targeted dose-response calculation can be performed to identify the range of loadings where the maximum TUs are reached.

The concentration of free product that remains is reported in cell C13 near the other exposure chamber dimensions. The model is constrained so that ratio of the free product phase volume is never less than  $10^{-10}$  L oil/L total system. The constraint ensures model stability during calculations with highly soluble petroleum products and has a negligible impact on the mass balance at low loadings or for materials that are highly soluble. The weighted-average physical/chemical properties of the reference structures that have been mapped to each hydrocarbon block are reported in the orange-shaded cells in columns C to F. The outputs are the geometric means of the octanol-water partition coefficient, sub-cooled solubility, molecular weight, and air-water partition

coefficients. Columns G through I report the computed concentrations of hydrocarbons in the different phases: product, air, water. The units of the concentration outputs are mass/L phase (e.g., mg/L product, mg/L headspace, mg/L water). If there is no headspace or free product phase then the model reports concentrations of zero for these phases.

A unique result in this sheet is the PNEC output in column J with units of mg/L water. The PNEC values for the hydrocarbon blocks reported in column J are the calculated as the geometric mean of the PNEC values for the representative structures from the database that were mapped to a given hydrocarbon block. The PNEC for the individual structures are found in column Y of the library database sheet: 'CONCAWE Library' and are calculated with the HC5 equation described in the 'CTLBB' sheet and in McGrath and Di Toro (2009). These values change as a function of the hydrocarbon block definition but are independent of product loading. These values are provided for quick reference only. Block-averaged values can introduce error into risk assessments, which is why PETROTOX uses individual compounds to perform fate and effects estimated. These values will be printed in red bold font in cases where the PNEC (column J) is greater than the sub-cooled solubility reported in column D.

The light blue-shaded data fields report the toxic units that are contributed from each hydrocarbon block for 6 grouped chemical classes. The output format will change as a function of the input resolution. Under high resolution the TUs and PNECs are reported for five output classes as follows:

- Paraffinic and Olefinic sum of toxic units from sub classes 1, 2 (n- and isoparaffins)
- Naphthenics sum of toxic units from sub classes 3, 4, 5, 6, 9 (all cycloalkanes)
- Mono-Aromatics sum of toxic units from sub classes 11, and 12 (Mono- and Naphthenic Mono-Aromatics)
- Di-Aromatics sum of toxic units from sub classes 13, and 14 (Di- and Naphthenic Di-Aromatics)
- Poly-Aromatics sum of toxic units from sub class15 (Poly-Aromatics)

Under low resolution calculations TU and PNEC results are printed for only total aliphatic (sub classes 1, 2, 3, 4, 6 and 9) and total aromatic (sub classes 11, 12, 13, 14 and 15) chemical classes by block.

The 'Output – Loads' sheet has a very similar format, except that it does not have the PNEC output since this output does not vary with product loading. The output fields repeat across the sheet, beginning in columns C to N for the first load and ending in columns GA to GL for the 10th load. A summary table of the loads and total toxic units is given in cells I5 to K14, shaded in purple. There are two charts that are found on this page in columns O to T. The first plots the effect data

versus the model-calculated toxic units and the second displays total toxic units versus product loading. They are given as a convenient representation of the modeling results.

### 10. Charts and copy buttons

For more detailed analysis of the model results there are two buttons available in each of the output sheets. The first is labeled 'Chart LL50' (or 'Chart Loads') that creates two charts for each product loading (LL50 calculations have one set of charts and Dose Response calculations have one set for each load). The charts read data from the output sheets and are displayed in the 'Charts' sheet. This feature is only active in high resolution mode.

One chart is a stacked bar chart of the toxic units in each of the 6 grouped chemical classes versus the hydrocarbon block position. Also, a pie chart is generated to show the contribution of the 6 grouped chemical classes to the overall toxic units. These charts contain a few text boxes that indicate the product name, target organism and product loading and toxic units associated with each chart. The charts are erased with each new calculation.

For more detailed data analysis the input and output sheets can be copied to a new spreadsheet so that the user can save the model results in a separate workbook. A command button labeled 'Copy Input/Output' is found on each output sheet. The copied spreadsheet will have three tabs: Output, Input, and a general comments page. The command buttons are removed from these spreadsheets and the sheets are no longer part of the functional model.

## **APPLICATIONS**

These spreadsheet models can be used to analyze dose response data, calculate LL50s, or toxic units for user-input dose response data as a means of analyzing and designing toxicity experiments. The models can be used to analyze the results of fate models to calculate environmental toxicity and potential risk of hydrocarbon emissions in aquatic compartments. The environmental toxicity of individual hydrocarbon blocks can also be evaluated using this version of PETROTOX.

## DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITIES

### PETROTOX User Agreement and Disclaimer

This disclaimer is issued in regard to the computer software programs referred to as PETROTOX. PETROTOX was originally developed by HydroQual, Inc for CONCAWE.

The software programs PETROTOX is being made available without charge or restriction except as stated in the next sentence. No recipient of PETROTOX shall: (i) copyright or patent it in any form; (ii) redistribute it to others without HydroQual's and CONCAWE's prior written authorization; (iii) make a monetary charge for it; (iv) violate or participate in the violation of the laws or regulations of the United States or other governments, foreign or domestic, in regard to its use or distribution.

To the extent not contrary to law, HydroQual, Inc. and HDR Engineering, Inc., its parents, subsidiaries, affiliates or other related companies shall not, in connection with PETROTOX, be liable for: (i) injury to persons; (ii) damage to, or loss of, property; (iii) infringement of intellectual property rights; (iv) loss of, reduction in or interruption of business; (v) loss of, or failure to achieve, revenue or profit; (vi) increased costs of operation; (vii) loss of materials or information; (viii) computer failure or malfunction; or (ix) special, direct, indirect, incidental, punitive or consequential damages. The preceding disclaimer shall apply whether or not liability results, or is claimed to result, from negligence or other circumstances.

HydroQual and HDR Engineering, Inc., its parents, subsidiaries, affiliates or other related companies do not represent or warrant that PETROTOX is free from defect or deficiency. Recipient shall be solely responsible for correction of defects or deficiencies, if any. There are no warranties, express or implied, including, without limitation, warranties of merchantability or suitability for a purpose.

Each recipient shall indemnify and defend HydroQual and HDR Engineering, Inc., its parents, subsidiaries, affiliates or other related companies against claims, liabilities, actions, costs and expenses which may result from recipient's violation of the provisions of this disclaimer.

### REFERENCES

- CONCAWE. 1996. Acute Aquatic Toxicity of Gasolines, Report No. 96/57, Brussels, Belgium.
- Di Toro DM, Zarba CS, Berry WJ, Swartz RC, Cowan CE, Pavlou SP, Allen HE, Thomas NA, Paquin PR. 1991. Technical basis for the equilibrium partitioning method for establishing sediment quality criteria. *Environ Toxicol and Chem* 11:1541-1583.
- Di Toro DM, McGrath JA, Hansen DJ. 2000. Technical basis for narcotic chemicals and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon criteria. I. Water and Tissue. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 19:1951-1970.
- Di Toro DM, McGrath JA and Stubblefield WA. 2007. Predicting the toxicity of neat and weathered crude oil: Toxic potential and the toxicity of saturated mixtures. *Environ ToxicolChem* 26:24-36.
- Hillal S, Karickhoff S, Carreira L. 2004. Prediction of the Solubilit, Activity Coefficient, and Liquid/Liquid Partition Coefficient of Organic Compounds. *QSAR & Combinatorial Science* 23: 709-720.
- HydroQual, Inc. 2005. Calculation of Toxicity of Petroleum Products with a Modified Narcosis Target Lipid Model. CONC.003.001, Mahwah, NJ.
- Mayer P, Halling-Sorensen B, Sijm D, Nyholm N. 1998. Toxic Cell Concentration of Three Polychlorinated Biphenyl Congeners in the Green Algea Selenastrum capricornutum. Environ Toxicol and Chem 17: 1848-1851.
- McCarty L, Mackay D, Smith A, Ozburn G, Dixon D. 1991. Interpreting aquatic toxicity QSARs: The significance of toxicant body residues at the pharmacologic endpoint. In Nrigu, JO, ed., *The Science of the Total Environment*. Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, pp 515-525.
- McGrath J, Parkerton T, Di Toro D. 2004. Application of the Narcosis Target Lipid Model to Algal Toxicity and Deriving Predicted-No-Effect Concetrations. *Environ Toxicol and Chem* 23: 2503-2517.
- McGrath J, Parkerton T, Hellweger F, Di Toro D. 2005. Validation of the Narcosis Target Lipid Model for Petroleum Products: Gasoline as a case study. *Environ Toxicol and Chem* 24:2382-2394.
- McGrath JA, Di Toro DM. 2009. Validation of the target lipid model for toxicity assessment of residual petroleum constituents: monocyclic and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 28:1130-1148

- Parkerton TF, Redman AD, McGrath JA, Letinski DK, Febbo EJ, Manning RG, Comber MH, Di Toro DM. 2011. Extension and validation of the target lipid model for deriving predicted no effect concentrations for hydrocarbons. ETC submitted.
- <sup>1</sup>Redman A, McGrath J, Parkerton T, Di Toro D. 2007. PETROTOX, an ecotoxicity calculator for petroleum hydrocarbon mixtures. Env. Tox. and Chem. submitted.
- SETAC 2011. PETROTOX: model for petroleum substance ecotoxicity. SETAC-North America short course SC05, Boston, MA November 13, 2011
- Sprague JB, Ramsay BA. 1965. Lethal levels of mixed copper-zinc solutions for juvenile salmon. Journal of Fisheries Resources Board Canada 22:425-432.
- Verbruggen E. 2004. Environmental Risk Limits for Mineral Oil (Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons). 601501021, RIVM.

### CONTACT INFORMATION:

Aaron Redman ExxonMobil Biomedical Sciences, Inc. 1545 Route 22 East Annandale, New Jersey 08801- 3059 Phone: 908-730-1128 aaron.d.redman@exxonmobil.com

Joy McGrath 1200 MacArthur Blvd Suite 101 Mahwah, NJ 07430-2331 Phone: (201) 529-5151 Email: Joy.mcgrath@hdrinc.com

Bohdan A. Dmystrasz Technical Coordinator, Petroleum Products CONCAWE Boulevard du Souverain 165 B-1160 Brussels, Belgium Phone: +32-2-566.91.65 Email: <u>bo.dmytrasz@concawe.org</u>

# FIGURES



Figure 1. Schematic of redistribution of unassigned mass

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н		J	K	L	M	N	0	Р	Q	R	
1		Product Name:	Gas Oil A											0	:Total Nu	mber of L	oadings		<b>^</b>
2		Date:	4/16/2009			1													
3		PROTECTION	CONCAVE			Target S	pecies Sel	ection Me	nu					Product	Effect	POC or			
4														Loading	Data	Lipid			
5	Test Co	nditions:			Daphi	nia magna			INTERCE	EPT				mo/L water)	(%)				
6	V	olume of Water (L)-	0.9		in	SPECIES		fu	mol/a octa	nolì			1		. (*•)				
7	· · ·	olanie or iraker (z).	0 1		15	Danhnia m	anna	()4	115.3	100			2						
	Total	Sustem Volume (L)-	10	-		Daprina m	agna		110.0				3						
a a	Toxart	system rolame (c).	1.0			E	Bioavailabi	ility			Calcul	ate End	Å						
10							Mode				- Po	pint	5						
11						0	: No bio auai	labilitu corre	otion				6						
12							Tuo bioavai	ability corre-	caon.				7						
12																			
14													0						$\left  - \right $
15													10						
10													10			_			-
17	C	least Decelutio		Total Number	of Hedroy	arbon Pla	ant c	Т	stal Voiab	t Daraant.	0.00			Ca	iculate Do	se			-
10	Sec	input nesolutio		: I Otal Mulliper	orngalou		JUKS		itai weign	t r ercent.	0.00				Response				-
10			Starting	Endina															-
		Hadrocarbon	Carbon	Carbon															
19		Block	Number	Number	n-P	i.P	<b>B-CC5</b>	8-006	i.N	Di-N	n-Olefing	i-Olafing	Pole-N	AIS	Motor	MMAr	Diår	NDiAr	
20		DIOCK	Teamber	Indiliber	(weight V)	(weight /)	(weight V)	(weight V)	(weight /)	(weight V)	(weight V)	(weight V)	(weight Z)	(weight V)	(weight V)	(weight V)	(weight V)	(weight V)	6
21		1			(incigite /ii)	(incigite /ii)	(acigneza)	(acignera)	(incight vit)	(incigite zij	(incigite 7i)	(incigite /ii)	(incigite /ij)	(incigite /it)	(acignera)	(acigite /a)	(incigite ni)	(acigner)	<u></u>
22		2																	
22		2																	
24		4																	
25		5																	
20		6																	-
27		7																	
20		, 0																	
20		0																	
20	-	10																	
21		10																	
22		10																	
32		12																	
33		13																	
39		14																	-
35		10																	-
36		16																	-
37		17																	-
38		18																	
39		19																	
	4 6 6	Input / De	tailedOut 7 (	Output - 11 50	/ Charte	/ CTL BE	Z Cope	awe Libra	ry / De	afinitions	Supplefa	1			1	1			
114		Maiput De	. alleuour V	oarpar - ECOU	V charo	V CIEDE	A CONC		NY De	Shi lidori 50	Cappine				1,	1		-	
Dr	jaw 🔻 🔓	AutoShapes	• \ × [		8 8	🗟   🆄 •	• 🚄 • 🛓	A - ≡	≣ <b>≓</b> [	l 🗊 🖕									

Figure 2. Input Sheet Sheet

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	I	J	К	L	M	N	-
1		Product Name:	Gas Oil A												$\frown$
2		Date:	16-Apr-09			LL50/NOEL a	nd PNEC Rep	port							1
3			•												1
4											Con	Innut/Output			
5											Cobi	, mpacroacpac			1
6		Species:	Daphnia mag	na	Acute TUs								-		
7	Model	150 (moll water)	3 17												
8		Total Toxic Units:	1.00												· =
9															
10		Test Conditions													1
11	٧o	ume of water (L):	0.9												
12	Volume	of headspace (L):	0.1												1
13	Volume of	free product (ш):	2.0												1
14								Chart 1150							
15								Chart LLJU							
16															
17															
18															
				Average Sub-	Average	Average						Avg PNEC	Avg PNEC	Avg PNEC	
		Hydrocarbon	Average log	Cooled	Molecular	Henry's Law	Product			Avg PNEC	Avg PNEC	Mono-	Di-	Poly-	
19		Block	Kow	Solubility	Veight	Constant	Phase	Air Phase	Water Phase	n,i-Paraffins	Naphthenics	Aromatic	Aromatics	Aromatics	
20				(mg/L)	(g/mol)	Log(unitless)	(mg/L product)	(mg/L headspace	(µg/L water)	(µg/L water)	(µg/L water)	(µg/L water)	(µg/L water)	(µg/L water)	
21		1	2.77	1.92E+02	70.47	0.94	3.5E-01	1.9E-03	8.3E-02	1.2E+02	1.0E+03	0.0E+00	0.0E+00	0.0E+00	
22		2	3.15	7.67E+01	83.66	0.90	1.2E+01	1.7E-02	1.8E+00	4.2E+01	3.3E+02	2.1E+03	0.0E+00	0.0E+00	
23		3	3.79	1.54E+01	98.19	1.35	2.3E+02	1.2E-01	1.0E+01	2.0E+01	1.1E+02	7.7E+02	0.0E+00	0.0E+00	
24		4	4.00	1.01E+01	114.14	0.76	3.5E+03	6.2E-01	5.8E+01	3.9E+00	3.6E+01	3.3E+02	0.0E+00	0.0E+00	
25		5	4.47	3.22E+00	126.68	0.88	2.8E+04	1.6E+00	1.4E+02	2.3E+00	1.3E+01	1.9E+02	0.0E+00	0.0E+00	
26		6	5.00	8.92E-01	140.33	1.00	1.1E+05	2.0E+00	1.5E+02	7.1E-01	5.8E+00	6.9E+01	1.1E+02	0.0E+00	
27		7	5.48	2.79E-01	154.50	1.02	1.8E+05	1.0E+00	1.1E+02	5.3E-01	2.3E+00	3.0E+01	4.5E+01	0.0E+00	
28		8	5.53	2.68E-01	166.87	0.30	1.9E+05	3.7E-01	6.1E+01	5.6E-01	2.2E+00	1.4E+01	2.3E+01	6.2E+01	
29		9	6.06	7.11E-02	180.68	0.41	1.8E+05	1.1E-01	2.0E+01	6.6E-01	1.1E+00	6.6E+00	1.0E+01	2.9E+01	
30		10	6.56	1.88E-02	195.35	0.45	1.2E+05	2.7E-02	3.9E+00	7.1E-01	1.1E+00	2.6E+00	5.4E+00	1.1E+01	
31		11	6.99	6.93E-03	207.28	0.49	5.7E+04	4.5E-03	4.4E-01	6.8E-01	1.1E+00	1.2E+00	2.3E+00	4.9E+00	
32		12	7.02	6.55E-03	220.37	-0.35	2.0E+04	8.7E-04	4.0E-02	1.0E+00	1.2E+00	9.9E-01	1.0E+00	2.2E+00	
33		13	6.33	8.04E-03	231.24	-1.12	5.0E+03	0.3E-05	0.IE-03	1.IE+00	1.4E+00	3.3E-01	7.1E-01	9.9E-01	
39		19	7.03	6.12E-03	243.24	-1.72	2.4E+03	6.0E-06	6.7E-04	1.1E+00	1.6E+00	1.0E+00	6.0E-01	8.2E-01	
30		10	1.11	1.13E-03	204.23	-1.06	1.3E+03	9.9E-07	8.IE-05	1.1E+00	2.1E+00	1.1E+00	6.6E-01	6.4E-01	
36		16	8.07	9.80E-04	266.01	-1.61	9.0E+02	8.3E-08	0.3E-06	1.12+00	2.15.00	1.12+00	6.3E-01 7 2E 01	6.4E-01 6.7E-01	
20		10	0.20	1155.04	200.00	-1.30	175.02	1.12-00	155.07	1.12+00	2.12+00	1.12+00	C 9E 01	0.7E-01	
20		10	0.62	2.24E.05	234.70	-2.20	155.02	5.2E-10	E 4E .09	1.12+00	195.00	1.12+00	0.3E-01 7 2E 01	5.6E-01	V
33	4 N N N	Joput / Do			O / Charte /	CTURE / Con		Dofinitio	0.4E-03	/	1.32+00	1.22+00	1.3E-01	7.02-01	r-
14		(input X De	talleuout Xt	acput - LLS	o A charos A	CURBEY COL	icawe Library	V Demnitio	isasuppinio	_/			1111		1
Dr	aw 🕶 😽	AutoShapes	- \ × [		j: 8 🖄	🖄 + 🚄 +	A - = =	≣ 🛱 🔲 🗇	- -						

Figure 3. Output – LLL50 Sheet

	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	I	J	K	L	M	N	0-
1	Product Name:	Gas Oil A												
2	Date:	16-Apr-09			Report of Ind	lividual Loads	s	Product	Effect Data:					
3		•			•			Loading	Mortality	Model TU				
4								(mg/L water)	(%)	TU				
5							1	2.00	<u> </u>	0.85				
6	Species:	Daphnia mag	na	Acute TUs			2							
7	bad (mg/L water):	2.00					3							
8	Toxic Units:	0.85					4							1
9	free product (الله):	1.1					5							
10							6							
11	Test Conditions:						7							
12	lume of water (L):	0.9					8							
13	of headspace (L):	0.1			-		9							
14					<b>O</b> L		10							
15					Chart Loads									
16								Сору	Input/Output					
17														
18														
			Average Sub	- Average	Average						Avg PNEC	Avg PNEC	Avg PNEC	
	Hydrocarbon	Average log	Cooled	Molecular	Henry's Law	Product			Avg PNEC	Avg PNEC	Mono-	Di-	Poly-	
19	Block	KOW	Solubility	Weight (almai)	Constant	Phase	Air Phase	Water Phase	n,I-Parattins	Naphthenics	Aromatic	Aromatics	Aromatics	n,i-Para
20		0.77	(mgrL)	(grmol)	E Log(unitiess)	(mgrL product)	amgrL neadspace	(µgrL water)	(µgrL water)	(µgrL water)	(µgrL water)	i (µgrL water)	: (µgrL water)	245.0
22	2	2.77	7.675.01	10.47	0.34	7.75.00	1.2E-03	0.2E-02	0.0E+00	0.0E+00	2.1E+00	1.0E+03	A 2E+02	3.4E-(
22	2	3.10	154E+01	99.19	125	14E+00	7.6E-02	6.4E+00	0.0E+00	0.0E+00	2.1E+03	3.3E+02	4.2E+01	4.0E-(
24	4	4.00	1.01E+01	114 14	0.76	2 3E+03	4 1E-01	3.7E+01	0.0E+00	0.0E+00	3.3E+02	3.6E+01	3.9E+00	4.9E-(
25	5	4 47	3.22E+00	126.68	0.88	2.0E+04	11E+00	9.1E+01	0.0E+00	0.0E+00	19E+02	13E+01	2.3E+00	3.4E-(
26	6	5.00	8.92E-01	140.33	1.00	9.1E+04	1.6E+00	1.0E+02	0.0E+00	1.1E+02	6.9E+01	5.8E+00	7.1E-01	1.0E-(
27	7	5.48	2.79E-01	154.50	1.02	1.8E+05	9.8E-01	7.7E+01	0.0E+00	4.5E+01	3.0E+01	2.3E+00	5.3E-01	6.0E-(
28	8	5.53	2.68E-01	166.87	0.30	2.0E+05	3.9E-01	4.6E+01	6.2E+01	2.3E+01	1.4E+01	2.2E+00	5.6E-01	1.4E-C
29	9	6.06	7.11E-02	180.68	0.41	2.0E+05	1.2E-01	1.7E+01	2.9E+01	1.0E+01	6.6E+00	1.1E+00	6.6E-01	3.1E-C
30	10	6.56	1.88E-02	195.35	0.45	1.3E+05	3.1E-02	3.7E+00	1.1E+01	5.4E+00	2.6E+00	1.1E+00	7.1E-01	5.2E-(
31	11	6.99	6.93E-03	207.28	0.49	6.5E+04	5.2E-03	4.6E-01	4.9E+00	2.3E+00	1.2E+00	1.1E+00	6.8E-01	6.0E-(
32	12	7.02	6.55E-03	220.37	-0.35	2.3E+04	1.0E-03	4.4E-02	2.2E+00	1.0E+00	9.9E-01	1.2E+00	1.0E+00	5.4E-(
33	13	6.99	8.04E-03	231.24	-1.12	7.0E+03	6.1E-05	5.6E-03	9.9E-01	7.1E-01	9.9E-01	1.4E+00	1.1E+00	2.8E-(
34	14	7.09	6.12E-03	243.24	-1.72	2.8E+03	6.9E-06	7.5E-04	8.2E-01	6.5E-01	1.0E+00	1.6E+00	1.1E+00	2.8E-(
35	15	7.77	1.13E-03	254.23	-1.06	1.5E+03	1.1E-06	9.2E-05	6.4E-01	6.6E-01	1.1E+00	2.1E+00	1.1E+00	3.6E-(
36	16	8.07	4.80E-04	268.51	-1.61	5.2E+02	1.0E-07	6.8E-06	6.4E-01	6.9E-01	1.1E+00	1.8E+00	1.1E+00	2.5E-
37	17	8.25	3.05E-04	280.85	-1.98	2.6E+02	1.3E-08	7.7E-07	6.7E-01	7.3E-01	1.1E+00	2.1E+00	1.1E+00	1.6E-
38	18	8.62	1.15E-04	294.78	-2.20	1.9E+02	1.9E-09	1.7E-07	6.8E-01	6.9E-01	1.1E+00	2.0E+00	1.1E+00	1.5E-1
39	19	9.14	3.34E-05	306.42	-1.74	1.7E+02	6.1E-10	7.4E-09	7.0E-01	7.3E-01	1.2E+00	1.9E+00	1.1E+00	2.2E-
∎	🔹 🕨 🕨 🔪 Inpi	ut 🔏 Detaileo	10ut \ Outp	ut - Loads 🛽	Charts ZCTL	BB / Concay	welibrary /	<ul> <li>Definitions&amp;</li> </ul>	Sunninto /					
	1		V		chards A che	DD X COILCO	TO LIDIDITY A	Deminiciphic	ouppino /					1.1

Figure 4. Output – Loads Sheet



Figure 5. Charts Sheet

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	l	J	К	L	M		
1															<u> </u>
2			Most	recent Narocsis	<u>Analysis (Sep</u>	<u>t 2005) </u>									
				Log(Standard		Standard									
3	ID	Species	Intercept	Error)	CTLBB	Error									
4				ч)	umol∤g octan	ol)		Sel	ected Acute-to-Chronic Ratio:	Default	User-Defined	Vorking V	alue		
5	1	USER-DEFINED								4.47	0	4.47			
6	2	Aedes aegypti	2.415	0.174	260.0	117.7									
7	3	Alburnus alburnus	2.234	0.147	171.4	63.3		_	NOTE:						
8	4	Ambystoma mexicanum	2.388	0.174	244.3	110.6			If values are left blank the model will as	ssume default	conditions				
9	5	Ankistrodesmus falcatus	2.699	0.139	500.0	173.1									
10	6	Artemia salina nauplii	2.288	0.079	194.1	36.2		_							
11	7	Carassius auratus	2.18	0.067	151.4	23.8									
12	8	Chlamydomonas angulosa	2.524	0.083	334.2	65.7									
13	9	Chlamydomonas reinhardtii	1.536	0.141	34.4	12.1									
14	10	Chlorella vulgaris	2.65	0.078	446.7	82.3									
15	11	Culex pipiens	2.333	0.174	215.3	97.5									
16	12	Cyprinodon variegatus	2.055	0.094	113.5	25.5		PNE	C calculation based with HC5 fo	rmulation					
17	13	Danio rerio	2.099	0.101	125.6	30.5									=
18	14	Daphnia cucullata	2.394	0.174	247.7	112.2		LogH	C5 = UNS * LogKmw + (geomean of CTI	LBB + Chemic	al Class Correcti	on) - Log(geo	meanACR) - ka	z≛(Varia	-
19	15	Daphnia magna	2.062	0.050	115.3	13.4									
20	16	Daphnia pulex	1.957	0.089	90.6	19.2			Universal Narcosis Slope	-0.936					
21	17	Gambusia affinis	2.31	0.147	204.2	75.4			Geomean of CTLBB	119.0	(µmol / g octano	ol)			
22	18	Hydra oligaetis	2.329	0.174	213.3	96.6			ACR	4.47					
23	19	letalurus punetatus	1.864	0.149	73.1	27.4			kz	2.30					
24	20	Jordanella floridae	1.827	0.101	67.1	16.3			Variance of UNS	2.25E-04					
25	21	Lepomis macrochirus	2.117	0.059	130.9	18.1			Variance of logCTLBB	0.112					
26	22	Leptochirus plumulosus	1.634	0.203	43.1	23.8			Variance of logACR	0.080					
27	23	Leucisus idus melanotus	2.183	0.078	152.4	28.1									
28	24	Lymnaea stagnalis	2.288	0.174	194.1	87.9				"These parar	neters cannot be	modified at th	is time		
29	25	Menidia beryllina	2.465	0.143	291.7	104.4									
30	26	Mysidopsis bahia	1.535	0.087	34.3	7.1									
31	27	Neanthes arenaceodentata	2.26	0.202	182.0	99.8									
32	28	Nitocra spinipes	2.256	0.158	180.3	72.6			Chemical Class corrections (a	dditive)					
33	29	Oithona davisae	2.151	0.142	141.6	50.2			ketone correction	0.000	None in databas	e			
34	30	Ondorhynchus mykiss	1.82	0.067	66.1	10.4			halogenated chemical correction	-0.339	None in databas	e			
35	31	Orconectes immunis	2.137	0.160	137.1	56.0			PAHs correction	-0.352	Applied to Poly/	Ar, DiAr, NDiA	r structures		_
36	32	Oryzias latipes	2.104	0.174	127.1	57.5			Monoaromatic hydrocarbon correcti	-0.109	Applied to MoA	r, NMoAr and	ArS structures	5	
37	33	Palaemonetes pugio	1.758	0.127	57.3	17.9			Aliphatic correction	0.000	Applied to n-P, I	P, n-CC6, n-0	CC5, I-N, Di-N, P	PolyN, A	:
38	34	Pimephales promelas	2.087	0.044	122.2	12.5									
39	35	Poecilia reticulata	2.402	0.108	252.3	65.8									
40	36	Portunus pelagicus	1.727	0.203	53.3	29.4									
44	27 5	Descent shine	0.404	0.474		574			C	D-(b	Land Barriera	······································			×
l∎ -	• • • • •	, Input / DetailedOut / Outp	ut - Loads	Charts λ	CILBB /	Concawe Lib	orary <u>/</u> E	Definit	ions&SuppInto /		<			>	
Dr	aw 🕶 😓	AutoShapes 🔹 🔪 🔪 🖂 🔿		28	🖏 + 🏒	• <u>A</u> • =	≣≓		1 -						

Figure 6. CTLBB Sheet

	A	в С	D	E	F	G	H	1	J	К	L ٨
1	VORKSHE	ET PROTECTED: CONCAVE									
2	1516	CAS Name	Smiles	Carbon #	Class	SubClass	ieneral Clas	Mol Vt_	Boil Pt (C)	'at Sol (mg/l	Log Kaw
3	ID 💌	💽 💽 Name 💽	SMILES 💽 💽			See key 'CTL 🔽	r = 2, S- and 💌	głmol 💌	) с 🗖	mgłL 💌	air/water
1482	1479	2-methyl-3-heptene	CC(C)C=CCCC	8	Olefin, branche	8	3	112.214	114.843	2.70E+00	1.803
1483	1480	2,4-dimethyl-1-hexene	C=C(C)CC(C)CC	8	Olefin, branche	8	3	112.214	111.927	3.40E+00	1.768
1484	1481	2-methyl-1-heptene	C=C(C)CCCCC	8	Olefin, branche	8	3	112.214	126.687	3.24E+00	1.546
1485	1482	2-methyl-1-octene	C=C(C)CCCCC	9	Olefin, branche	8	3	126.241	151.534	7.52E-01	1.732
1486	1483	Tetratriacontane	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	34	Alkane, linear	1	1	478.927	482.628	6.25E-17	5.320
1487	1484	Hexatriacontane	CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC	36	Alkane, linear	1	1	506.981	500.846	5.06E-18	5.134
1488	1485	2-methyl Octacosane	CC(C)CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC	30	Alkane, branch	2	1	422.820	423.504	2.29E-14	4.972
1489	1486	2-methyl Tetratriacontane	00(0)0000000000000000000000000000000000	31	Alkane, branch	2	1	436.847	432.057	5.31E-15	5.101
1490	1487	n-Pentacosylcyclohexane	C(CCCC1)(C1)CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC	31	Alkane, mono	3	1	434.831	431.157	1.70E-14	4.242
1491	1488	n-Hexacosylcyclohexane	C(CCCC1)(C1)CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC	32	Alkane, mono	3	1	448.858	437.737	3.91E-15	4.371
1492	1489	1-cyclohexyl 4,8,12,16 pentamethyl t	C10000010000(C)0000(C)0000(C)0000(()	34	Alkane, mono	3	1	476.911	394.739	5.77E-16	5.009
1493	1490	1-cyclohexyl 4,8,12,16 pentamethyl p	010000010000(0)0000(0)0000(0)0000(()00000(	36	Alkane, mono	3	1	504.965	407.861	3.16E-17	5.241
1494	1491	1-3methyltetraacosyl,2-methloyolo	C10000010000(C)0000(C)0000(C)00000((	34	Alkane, mono	3	1	476.911	394.739	5.77E-16	5.009
1495	1492	1-3methylhexacosyl,2-methloycloh	C10000010000(C)0000(C)0000(C)00000((	36	Alkane, mono	3	1	504.965	407.861	3.16E-17	5.241
1496	1493	2-(2,6,10,14 tetramethyhexadecyl)-9	C1CCC2CCC(CC(C)CCCC(C)CCCC(C)CCC(C)CC2	37	Alkane, di-cycl	6	1	516.976	402.904	1.84E-17	5.237
1497	1494	2-(2,6,10,14 tetramethyhexadecyl)-9	C1CCC2CCC(CC(C)CCCC(C)CCCC(C)CCC(C)CC2	39	Alkane, di-cycl	6	1	545.029	417.522	9.72E-19	5.493
1498	1495	2-ethyl,6-methylundecyl-hydro-chry	C1CCC2CCC3C4CCC(CC(CC)CCCC(C)CCCCC)CC4CC	32	TetraN	9	1	442.810	393.889	1.41E-13	3.055
1499	1496	2-propyl,6-methylundecyl-hydro-ch	C1CCC2CCC3C4CCC(CC(CCC)CCCC(C)CCCCC)CC4C	33	TetraN	9	1	456.837	397.044	3.64E-14	3.147
1500	1497	2-isopentyl,6-ethylundecyl-hydro-c	C1CCC2CCC3C4CCC(CC(CC(C)CC)CCCC(CC)CCCCC)	36	TetraN	9	1	498.917	390.248	8.35E-16	3.727
1501	1498	2-(3,6-dimethylheptyl)-6-methyl hyd	C4C(CCC(C)CCC(C)CCCCC)CC3CC(C)C2C1CCCCC1C0	32	TetraN	9	1	442.810	391.713	1.13E-13	3.319
1502	1499	2-(3,6-dimethylheptyl)-6-butyl-10-(2	C4C(CCC(C)CCC(C)CCCC)CC3CC(CCCC)C2C1CC(CC	41	TetraN	9	1	569.051	422.313	3.22E-19	4.925
1503	1500	Dimethylheptyl-hydro benzo(a)pyre	C(C(C(CC1)CCC2)C2CC3)(C3CC(C4CCC5CC(C)CCCC(	29	PentaN	9	1	398.714	378.900	2.20E-11	2.328
1504	1501	Isohexyl hydro-benzo-perylene	CCC(C)CCC6CC2C(CC6)C1CCCC4C1C(C3CCCC5C3C4	30	HexaN	9	1	410.725	400.279	8.00E-12	1.629
1505	1502	BENZO(P)NAPHTHO(1,8,7-GHI)0	c1cc6cccc7c6c2c(c4c7c3c(c5c4cccc5)cccc3)cccc12	28	HexaAr	15	2	352.434	706.425	3.48E-05	-7.007
1506	1503	Hydro-BENZO(P)NAPHTHO(1,8,7	C10060000706020(0407030(050400005)00003)0	28	HesaN	9	1	380.656	419.590	1.61E-10	0.299
1507	1504	DIBENZO(B,K)CHRYSENE	c5c6cccc6cc2c5c1c(c3cc4c(cc3cc1)cccc4)cc2	26	HexaAr	15	2	328.412	669.407	2.32E-04	-7.000
1508	1505	Hydro-DIBENZO(B,K)CHRYSEN	C5C6CCCC6CC2C5C1C(C3CC4C(CC3CC1)CCCC4)CC	26	HexaN	9	1	354.618	378.228	2.68E-09	1.087
1509	1506	n-Butyl dimethyl hydroperylene	00000200100(0)004010(0300(0)00503040005)02	26	PentaN	9	1	356.634	362.066	1.43E-09	2.141
1510	1507	2,2,4,6,6-pentamethylheptane	C(C)(C)(C)CC(C)CC(C)(C)C	12	Alkane, branch	2	1	170.337	208.362	4.86E-03	3.247
1511	1508	2,2,3-trimethyl decane	CCCCCCCC(C)C(C)(C)C	13	Alkane, branch	2	1	184.364	234.644	1.45E-03	2.773
1512	1509	3,3,6,6-Tetramethyloctane	000(0)(0)000(0)(0)00	12	Alkane, branch	2	1	170.337	228.451	5.42E-03	2.921
1513	1510	2,2,4,4,6,8,8-heptamethylnonane	CC(C)(C)CC(C)CC(C)(C)CC(C)(C)C	16	Alkane, branch	2	1	226.445	287.525	2.11E-05	4.054
1514	1511	6-n-Butyl-2,3-dimethylnaphthalene	Cc2cc1ccc(CCCC)cc1cc2C	16	Naphthalene	13	2	212.334	349.611	1.08E-01	-1.729
1515	1512	2,3 Dimethy-5(4methylpentyl) naph	Cc2cc1c(CCCC(C)C)cccc1cc2C	18	Naphthalene	13	2	240.388	354.416	1.37E-02	-1.574
1516	1513	2-(4,8,14,18-Tetramethylnonadecyl)	C(C)CCCC(C)CCCC(C)CCCC(C)CCCCCc10002000002	33	Naphthalene	13	2	450.790	456.459	1.41E-10	-0.726
1517	1514	n-phenylcyclohexane	c(cccct)(ct)C(CCCC2)C2	12	PentaN	9	1	160.258	232.810	5.85E+00	-1.126
1518	1515	cyclopropylbenzene	c1ccccc1C2CC2	9	Naphthenic M	12	2	118.178	166.112	2.26E+02	-1.227
1519	1516	2-methyloctyl-hexadecahudropicer	o1200030(o2CCC5C1CCC(CC(C)CCCCC)C5)CCC4C3C	31	Naphthenic M	12	2	420.720	433.324	6.62E-08	-3.145
1520						,					¥
<b>H</b> 4	► N \ 1	Input / DetailedOut / Output - L	L50 / Charts / CTLBB <b>\ Concawe Library</b> /	Definitior	ns&SuppInfo	) /			<		>
Drav	v • 🗟	AutoShapes 🔹 🔪 🔌 🔲 🔿 🔠	4 🛟 🗕 🖂   🦄 • 🚄 • 📥 • 🚍 🚃	£ 🛯 🗇	Ŧ						

Figure 7. CONCAWE 1457 Sheet

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	н	<u> </u>	J	К	L	M	N	0	P	Q	R	<u>_</u>	-
1																				4
2	Description of Parameters	in Model																	——I	
3	_	-																	——I	
4	Cw	Sum of libr	ary structure	e's aqueous	concentra	tion in mg pe	r liter of wat	er											——I	
5	Ca	Sum of libra	ary structure	e's concentr	ation in mg	per liter of h	leadspace												——I	
6	Cn	Sum of libra	ary structure	e's concentr	ation in mg	per liter of f	ree product												——I	
7	ACR	Acute-to-C	hronic Rati	o: Default v	alue is 4.47	but there is a	a user-define	ed options i	h the 'CTLB	B'tab									——I	
8		Critical Lar	get Lipid Bo	dy Burden i	n units of m	hicromoles /	kilogram od	tanol - repr	esentative o	of toxicity en-	dpoint of th	e challenge	organisms							
9	Product Loading	Mass of pr	oduct per lit	er of water i	n units of n	ng/L water													I .	
10	Effect Data	Mortality, s	urvival or o	ther types o	Felfect dat	a in % of con	itrol													
11	Cell Density	Particulate	organic car	bon concer	tration from	m microbial (	cell growth ii	units of m	g carbon pe	r L exposure	water									-
12	Lipid concentration	Lipid conce	entration in e	exposure ch	amber calc	ulated from	organism io	ading (g/L w	ater) and lip	Id Fraction (F	lipid) in unit:	s of mg lipid	per L expos	ure water						-
13		I OXIC Units	, by definitio	na IU=115	the aqueo	us concentra	ation of a ch	allenge hyd	ocarbon to	the LL50: TU	J = CWYLLS	0								
14	Chemical Class Correction (CC)	Adjustmen	t lactor app	lied to certa	in chemical	I classes tha	t exhibit grea	ater than ba:	seline narco	sis toxicity							• .			
15	Degree of Resolution	Number of	chemical cl	asses for a:	ssignment j	purposes: Hi	gh resolutio T	ns has all 16	classes, Lo	ow resolution	n has to ger	heral groups	: Aliphatic ai	nd Aromatic	without ole	Finic and S-b	earing struc	ares	——I	
16	LL50	Median Let	thal Loading	(mg/L wate	<u>n</u>															
17		Target Lipic	d Model - ca	alibrated with	) physical/c	hemical proj	perties from	SPARC											——I	
18	PNEC	Predicted N	Vo Effect C	oncentratio	ns calculate	ed with HC5	equation de	scribed in 'C	TLBB' tab										——I	
19	BP	Boiling Poi	int in degree	s Celcius															——I	
20	n-P	Linear alkar	nes: n-Paral	ffins															——I	
21	1-P	Branched a	alkanes: iso-	-Paraffins															——I	
22	n-CC5	Parent and	Substituted	i cyclo-pent	anes														<sup>L</sup>	7
23	n-CC6	Parent and	Substituted	l cyclo-hexa	nes															
24	i-N	Other naph	thenic struc	tures																
25	DiN	Di-naphthe	nic structur	es																
26	n-Olefin	Linear olefi	nic structur	es																
27	i-Olefin	Branched o	olefinic struc	otures																
28	PolyN	Poly Napht	thenics (cyc	lic alkanes)	including T	ri-, Tetra-, Pe	enta- and He	xa-naphthei	nics											
29	AIS	Sulfur-bear	ing aliphatic	compound	s															
30	MoAr	Parent and	Substituted	i Mono-Aro	matics															
31	NMAr	Naphthenic	Mono-Arc	matic struc	tures															
32	DiAr	Di-Aromati	ic structures	s including p	arent and s	ubstituted bi	phenyl and r	aphthalene	structures											
33	NDiAr	Naphthenic	: Di-Aromat	ic structure	s															
34	PolyAr	Poly-Arom	iatic compo	unds includ	es: Tri-, Ntri	i-, Tetra-, Nte	etra-, Penta-	and Hexa-a	romatic str	uctures										
35	ArS	Sulfur-bear	ing aromati	c compound	İs															
36	Vair	Volume of	headspace	in exposure	chamber															
37	Vwater	Volume of	water in exp	osure cham	iber															
38	Vsystem	Total syste	em volume o	alculated as	s sum of Va	air and Vwate	r													
39	BP interval	Boiling Poi	int range in o	degrees Cel	sius for any	j given hdyro	carbon bloc	k: Defined b	y Starting a	nd Ending B	iling Point	entries								
40	Hydrocarbon block	There can b	be up to 50 i	ndividual hy	drocarbon	blocks defin	ed by boiling	point interv	al and mas	s distribution	by chemica	al classes								
41	Target species selection menu	Drop-down	menu to se	elect CTLBE	3 for any sp	ecies/endpo	int in the Ta	rget Lipid M	odel databa	ise									-	
42	Biodilution	Partitioning	n of dissolut	ed netroleur	n hudroe arl	hons to narti	culate organ	vie earbonie vie Likeren	r linid tiegu 	in it in a second	iem in avno Or un m T	cura water			r	A 1				r -
I I I	<ul> <li>MIV TUDAT V Detaile</li> </ul>	uout <u>k</u>	Output -	LLSU X	charts ,	(CILBB)	( Conca	we Librar	y <u>)</u> Det	rittons8	suppin	10/				<			2	
Dr	aw 🔹 😓   AutoShapes 🔹 🚿	1 1 -		1 4 3	8	- 🖏 -	🥒 - A	- = =		a 🔊 🖡										

Figure 8. Parameters Sheet



Figure 9. Command Button Labels

		A	В	С	D	E	F	G	н		J	К	L	M	N	0	P	Q	B	
	1		Product Name:	Gas Oil A											0	:Total Nu	mber of L	oadings		$\neg$
	2		Date:	4/16/2009																
	3		PROTECTION	CONCAVE			Target S	pecies	Selection Me	enu					Product	Effect	POC or			
	4														Loading	Data	Lipid			
	5 Te	est Co	nditions:			Daphr	nia magna			INTERCI	EPT				mg/L water)	(%)				
	6	V.	olume of Water (L):	0.9		ID	SPECIES	3	()	umol/gocta	nol)			1	2					
	7			0.1		15	Daphnia m	agna		115.3				2						
	8	Total S	lystem Volume (L):	1.0				1				Calcul	ate End	3						=
	9						E	sioavai	ability			P	nint	4						
	0							MO	ae				:	5						
1	1						0	No bio-	availability corre	ction.				6						
1	2													7						
1	3											_		8						
1	4							6						9						
	15								Select Reso	olution				10						
	6														<u>с</u> ,	leulate Do	<b>CA</b>			
	7	Set	Input Resolutio	on 26	:Total Number	of Hydroo	arbon Blo	ocks	🔿 High - 1	6 chemical	classes	99.56				Resnonse				
	8								·											
				Starting	Ending				🗌 🔘 Low - 2	General Cl	asses									
			Hydrocarbon	Carbon	Carbon															
	19		Block	Number	Number	n-P	i-P	n-C		Applu		-Olefins	i-Olefins	Poly-N	AIS	MoAr	NMAr	DiAr	NDiAr	
	20					(weight %)	(weight %)	(weig		Арріу		weight %)	(weight %)	(weight %)	(weight %)	(weight %)	(weight %)	(weight %)	(weight %)	0
	21		1	5.00	6.00	0.008	0.001	0.				0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
	22		2	6.00	7.00	0.029	0.021	0.02	5 0.035	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.000	0.000	
	23		3	7.00	8.00	0.170	0.128	0.03	5 0.256	0.064	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.159	0.000	0.000	0.000	
	24		4	8.00	9.00	0.752	0.593	0.25	4 0.391	0.770	0.069	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	1.325	0.000	0.000	0.000	
	25		5	9.00	10.00	2.627	2.182	0.21	8 0.499	2.245	0.536	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	3.467	0.078	0.000	0.000	
	26		6	10.00	11.00	4.094	4.865	0.32	4 0.455	3.917	1.789	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	3.367	0.457	0.162	0.000	
	27		7	11.00	12.00	3.966	5.082	0.22	8 0.313	4.022	2.286	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	2.257	0.946	0.515	0.000	
	28		8	12.00	13.00	3.129	4.112	0.16	7 0.250	3.524	1.953	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	1.404	0.975	0.556	0.002	
	29		9	13.00	14.00	2.465	3.785	0.12	6 0.167	2.937	1.906	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.882	0.691	0.218	0.012	
	30		10	14.00	15.00	1.475	2.870	0.05	5 0.096	1.845	0.987	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.441	0.283	0.073	0.007	
	51		11	15.00	16.00	0.618	1.702	0.02	2 0.031	0.928	0.312	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.176	0.090	0.016	0.004	
E	52		12	16.00	17.00	0.182	0.686	0.00	6 0.010	0.338	0.084	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.052	0.023	0.004	0.001	
	53		13	17.00	18.00	0.056	0.187	0.00	2 0.002	0.114	0.024	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.014	0.006	0.001	0.000	
E	54 )E		14	18.00	19.00	0.016	0.032	0.00	0.001	0.034	0.007	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.004	0.002	0.000	0.000	
E	50 VO		10	19.00	20.00	0.005	0.058	0.00	0 0.000	0.010	0.002	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.002	0.000	0.000	0.000	
	36		16	20.00	21.00	0.002	0.016	0.00	0 0.000	0.003	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	
	20		17	21.00	22.00	0.002	0.004	0.00	0 0.000	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	
	20		18	22.00	23.00	0.001	0.002	0.00	0 0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
	59		19	23.00	24.00	0.000	0.001	0.00	0 0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
T.	4	<b>F F</b>	Innut / De	tailedOut / (	Dutnut - Loade	: / Chart	s / CTUE	BCC	oncawe Libi	rary / r	Pefinitions	SunnInf	fo /	111118		1	1			ai –
1.1	•		(mput / De	. Allououe A	Salpar - Loau:	V chart	ACTE					,ouppin	,			1	1			
1	Draw	- 4	AutoShapes	• / × 🗆		j 8	🏽   🆄 ·	• 🚄 •	• <u>A</u> • =	≣ ≓ ∣	💷 🗊 🖕									

Figure 10. Resolution Selection Form

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	н		J	К	L	M	N	0	P	Q	B	_
1		Product Name:	B         C         D         E         F           Product Name:         Gas Dil A  <										0	:Total Nu	mber of L	oadings		$\neg$	
2		Date:	4/16/2009																
3		PROTECTION	CONCAVE			Target \$	Species Sel	ection Me	enu					Product	Effect	POC or			
4														Loading	Data	Lipid			
5	Test Co	nditions:			Daphr	na magna			INTERCE	:PT				(mg/L water)	(%)				
6	V.	olume of Water (L):	0.9		ID	SPECIE	S	(μ	mol/gocta	nol)			1	2					
7	1		0.1		15	Daphnia r	magna		115.3				2						
8	Total S	System Volume (L):	1.0								Calou	Isto End	3						1
9							Bioavailabi	lity			D.	aint	4						
10							Mode					i	5						
11						0	Binavaila	hility					6						
12							Dirutatia						7						
13							N- D:	:  -  - : :1		_			8						
14								oavaliadilik	ty correctio	)n -			9						
15							Proce	ed as is					10						
16			1				- Ente	r POC dat	а						Jaulana Da				
17	Set	Input Resolutio	n 26	:Total Number	of Hydrod	arbon E	- Tvp	ically for a	algal expos	ures				La	Denne Do	se			
18					_										Response				
			Starting	Ending			👝 Defai	ult: 2.0 mc	níl POC										
		Hydrocarbon	Carbon	Carbon			- Con	omon valu	e in algal e	xnosures									
19		Block	Number	Number	n-P	i-P			o in aigar o.			i-Olefins	Poly-N	AIS	MoAr	NMAr	DiAr	NDiAr	
20					(weight %)	(weight ;	- Enter	lipid conc	entration		1	(weight %)	(weight %)	(weight %)	(weight %)	(weight %)	(weight %)	(weight %)	0
21		1	5.00	6.00	0.008	0.001	-typic	ally for fis	sh or daphi	nd exposur	es	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
22		2	6.00	7.00	0.029	0.021						0.000	0.008	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.000	0.000	
23		3	7.00	8.00	0.170	0.128				- 1		0.000	0.008	0.000	0.159	0.000	0.000	0.000	
24		4	8.00	9.00	0.752	0.593			Apply			0.000	0.008	0.000	1.325	0.000	0.000	0.000	
25		5	9.00	10.00	2.627	2.182			-			0.000	0.008	0.000	3.467	0.078	0.000	0.000	
26		6	10.00	11.00	4.094	4.865	0.324	0.455	3.917	1.789	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	3.367	0.457	0.162	0.000	
27		7	11.00	12.00	3.966	5.082	0.228	0.313	4.022	2.286	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	2.257	0.946	0.515	0.000	
28		8	12.00	13.00	3.129	4.112	0.167	0.250	3.524	1.953	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	1.404	0.975	0.556	0.002	
29		9	13.00	14.00	2.465	3.785	0.126	0.167	2.937	1.906	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.882	0.691	0.218	0.012	
30		10	14.00	15.00	1.475	2.870	0.055	0.096	1.845	0.987	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.441	0.283	0.073	0.007	
31		11	15.00	16.00	0.618	1.702	0.022	0.031	0.928	0.312	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.176	0.090	0.016	0.004	
32		12	16.00	17.00	0.182	0.686	0.006	0.010	0.338	0.084	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.052	0.023	0.004	0.001	
33		13	17.00	18.00	0.056	0.187	0.002	0.002	0.114	0.024	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.014	0.006	0.001	0.000	
34		14	18.00	19.00	0.016	0.092	0.001	0.001	0.034	0.007	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.004	0.002	0.000	0.000	
35		15	19.00	20.00	0.005	0.058	0.000	0.000	0.010	0.002	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.002	0.000	0.000	0.000	
36		16	20.00	21.00	0.002	0.016	0.000	0.000	0.003	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	
37		17	21.00	22.00	0.002	0.004	0.000	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	
38		18	22.00	23.00	0.001	0.002	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
39		19	23.00	24.00	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
40		20	24.00	25.00	1 0.000	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	6- 0.000	0.008	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	- T
l 🖬 👘	4 P H	Tubut V De	talledOut <u>X</u> (	output - Load:	, Chart	s <u>k</u> uie	BB ( Cond	lawe Libi	rary <u>(</u> L	ennitions	ssuppin	10 /			1		1	>	
Dr	aw 🔹 🔓	AutoShapes	- \ * [		j 8	3 🔊	- <u>1</u> - <u>1</u>	<u>↓</u> - ≡	≡ <u>₹</u> (										

Figure 11. Bioavailability Correction Options Form

	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	н	I	J	K	L	M	N	0	P	Q	B	
1		Product Name:	Gas Oil A											0	:Total Nu	mber of L	.oadings		$\neg$
2		Date:	4/16/2009																
3		PROTECTION	CONCAVE			Target S	pecies S	Selection Me	nu					Product	Effect	POC or			
4														Loading	Data	Lipid			
5	i Test	Conditions:			Dabu	nia magna			INTERCE	EPT				(mg/L water)	(%)				
6		Volume of Water (L):	0.9		ID	SPECIES	3	ц)	mol / g octa	nol)			1	2					
7	•		0.1		15	Daphnia m	agna		115.3				2						
8	Tot	al System Volume (L):	1.0								Calcul	ate End	3						≣
9	1						SIO AVAIIA	adilicy			P	nint	4						
10	)						: :	e				:	5						
11						0	No bioa	vailability corre	ction.				6						
12	2												7						
13	3												8						
14	F .						6	_		-			9						
15	5							EndPoint	Mode	X			10						
16	3										<u> </u>			Ca	Iculate Dr				
17	<u> </u>	et Input Resolutio	on 26	:Total Number	of Hydroe	arbon Blo	ocks	G And	- 1150		99.56				Resnonse				
18	3 _							Acut	e - 1150						The sponse				
			Starting	Ending				C Chro	nic Effects	-									
		Hydrocarbon	Carbon	Carbon				- Chird		, 									
19	)	Block	Number	Number	n-P	i-P	n-CC	ſ	annly		n-Olefins	i-Olefins	Poly-N	AIS	MoAr	NMAr	DiAr	NDiAr	_
2	0				(weight %)	(weight %)	(weigh		1001		(weight %)	(weight %)	(weight %)	(weight %)	(weight %)	(weight %)	(weight %)	(weight %)	1
2	1	1	5.00	6.00	0.008	0.001	0.005				0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
2	2	2	6.00	7.00	0.029	0.021	0.025	0.035	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.000	0.000	
2	3	3	7.00	8.00	0.170	0.128	0.035	0.256	0.064	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.159	0.000	0.000	0.000	-
2	4	4	8.00	9.00	0.752	0.593	0.254	0.391	0.770	0.069	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	1.325	0.000	0.000	0.000	
2	5	5	9.00	10.00	2.627	2.182	0.218	0.499	2.245	0.536	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	3.467	0.078	0.000	0.000	-
2	6	6	10.00	11.00	4.094	4.865	0.324	0.455	3.917	1.789	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	3.367	0.457	0.162	0.000	
2	1	7	11.00	12.00	3.966	5.082	0.228	0.313	4.022	2.286	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	2.257	0.946	0.515	0.000	
2	8	8	12.00	13.00	3.129	4.112	0.167	0.250	3.524	1.953	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	1.404	0.975	0.556	0.002	-
2	9	9	13.00	14.00	2.465	3.785	0.126	0.167	2.937	1.906	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.882	0.691	0.218	0.012	
3	0	10	14.00	15.00	1.475	2.870	0.055	0.096	1.845	0.987	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.441	0.283	0.073	0.007	
3	1	11	15.00	16.00	0.618	1.702	0.022	0.031	0.928	0.312	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.176	0.090	0.016	0.004	-
3	2	12	16.00	17.00	0.182	0.686	0.006	0.010	0.338	0.084	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.052	0.023	0.004	0.001	
3	3	13	17.00	18.00	0.056	0.187	0.002	0.002	0.004	0.024	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.014	0.006	0.001	0.000	
3	4 F	14	18.00	19.00	0.016	0.032	0.001	0.001	0.034	0.007	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.004	0.002	0.000	0.000	-
3	0	10	19.00	20.00	0.005	0.058	0.000	0.000	0.010	0.002	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.002	0.000	0.000	0.000	
	5	16	20.00	21.00	0.002	0.016	0.000	0.000	0.003	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	-
3	· ·	1/	21.00	22.00	0.002	0.004	0.000	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	
$-\frac{3}{2}$	0	18	22.00	23.00	0.001	0.002	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	F
	0	19	23.00	24.00	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	- ~
14	4 1	N Input / De	tailedOut / (	Output - 1150	/ Charts	/ CTURE	3 / Cor	ncawe Libra	ry / De	ofinitions	SunnInfo	1	11108		12	1		5	
114			remotioner V .	oarpar - Ecou	A chards	V CIEDE	V CO		N A De	51111001150	coapprint				1	1			
ļ	⊃ <u>r</u> aw <del>*</del>	AutoShapes	• \ × [		82	🏼   🆄 ·	• 🚄 •	<u>A</u> - ≡	≣ ₹ I										

F	Figure 12.	Acute or	Chronic	Mode	Selection	Form

×	Micro	osoft Ex	ccel - P	PETRO	TOX_ve	er3.01.)	ds														_ 7	
:2	Eile	<u>E</u> dit	<u>V</u> iew	Insert	F <u>o</u> rmat	<u>T</u> ools	<u>D</u> ata	<u>W</u> indov	v <u>H</u> elp									Тур	e a questic	on for help		×
5 P				a 🗅		0 - 1 😡	Σ	41 M	75%	- 📀	Pr : Arial		-	10 -	B Z	u∣≣	= = =	a- \$ •	.0 .00	🖏	- A -	••
					· • • •			ZVI			1	_				<u> </u>						=
1		22	• <b>•</b> •		- D   🥏	1 49 02	3   YQ	Reply with	n <u>⊂</u> hange	:s E <u>n</u> d F	Review	÷	: Aa	ab	] 💷   🖂				- <b>-</b>	Y I.	<u> </u>	
			•	fx																		
	A	E	3	0.0	C	D		E	F	G	н		J	К	L	м	N	0	P (1	Q	R	
2		Produ	ict ivame: Date:	: Gas U 4,16,12	11 A 009	_											U	: I OCAL NU	mber of L	oadings		
3		PROT	TECTION		AWE	- (τ	о лл	000 <b>C</b>	oolin	a	ection Me	nu					Product	Effect	POC or			
4						L	<b>J.</b> 1 <b>VI</b>	ass 51	cann	g							Loading	Data	Lipid			
5	Test Co	onditions:				(	Optic	ons			<u> </u>	INTERC	EPT				(mg/L water)	(%)				
6	1	/olume of	Water (L):	·	D.9		- <b>r</b>				<u>(</u> ш	mol/gocta	nol)			1	2					_
- /	Total	Sustem Ve	olume (L):	. 1	0.1			10	Daprinia n	lagna		115.3				2						
9	Total	System ve	June (L).						I	Bioavailab	ility			Calcula	ate End	4						_ =
10										Mode	_			PO	int .	5	5					
11					Mass	Imbala	nce		x	No bioava	ailability corre	tion.				6	5					
12					-			_							<u> </u>	7						_
13									-		- A	. Mas	s Imba	lance		8						
15					0	Scale t	o 1009	6			TI I		~			10						
16											- VV	arnin	g					laulata Da				_
17	C Scale to 100% Set Input Resolution 2 Add to pon-toxic Bocks C Scale to 100% C Scale																					
18	2     7       3     A. Mass Imbalance       4     9       5     0       6     9       7     Set Input Resolution       8     0       8     0       9     0       10     Calculate Dose Response														_							
		Hadrow	earbon	Sta Ca		IITalai						_										
19		Blo	ock	Nu	-					n-C	5um of Mas:	; Fraction	is: 99.56 %	llefins	i-Olefins	Poly-N	AIS	MoAr	NMAr	DiAr	NDiAr	1
20					0	Exit pro	gram (	to fix inp	outs 🛛	) (weig	<b></b>			ight %)	(weight %)	(weight %)	(weight %)	(weight %)	(weight %)	(weight %)	(weight %)	6
21			1	5	5.				1	0.		OK	0	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
22			2	e	8		Apply			0.0				0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.000	0.000	
23			3	7		9.00		0.752	0.592	0.655	0.2.30	0.004	0.000	-0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.159	0.000	0.000	0.000	_
24			+ 5	9	3.00	10.00		2.627	2 182	0.234	0.331	2.245	0.536	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	3.467	0.000	0.000	0.000	
26			6	10	0.00	11.00	)	4.094	4.865	0.324	0.455	3.917	1.789	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	3.367	0.457	0.162	0.000	
27			7	1	1.00	12.00	)	3.966	5.082	0.228	0.313	4.022	2.286	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	2.257	0.946	0.515	0.000	
28		1	8	12	2.00	13.00		3.129	4.112	0.167	0.250	3.524	1.953	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	1.404	0.975	0.556	0.002	
29			9	10	3.00	14.00 1E.00		2.465	3.785	0.126	0.167	2.937	1.906	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.882	0.691	0.218	0.012	
30			11	14	5.00	16.00		0.618	1702	0.055	0.036	0.928	0.367	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.441	0.283	0.073	0.007	-
32		1	12	16	6.00	17.00		0.182	0.686	0.006	0.010	0.338	0.084	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.052	0.023	0.004	0.001	
33		1	13	17	7.00	18.00	)	0.056	0.187	0.002	0.002	0.114	0.024	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.014	0.006	0.001	0.000	
34		1	4	18	8.00	19.00	)	0.016	0.092	0.001	0.001	0.034	0.007	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.004	0.002	0.000	0.000	
35		1	5	19	9.00	20.00	0	0.005	0.058	0.000	0.000	0.010	0.002	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.002	0.000	0.000	0.000	
36		1	15	20	0.00	21.00		0.002	0.016	0.000	0.000	0.003	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	
37			18	2	2.00	22.00	n	0.002	0.004	0.000	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	
39		1	9	2	3.00	24.00	0	0.000	0.002	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
40			20	2	4.00	25.0	n	0.000	,0.001	,0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0,000	0.008	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	<b>1</b>
l∎ -	4 6 6	III Inni	it ( Do						A CTUD	D / Cond		( D	- C - C - C	7 6							1	
		. I / mbc	IL A DE	etallequ	ut χ ο	Jutput - I	LLSU /	Charts	Y CITRI	B X CON	cawe Libra	ry <u>,</u> D	emnitions&S	suppinto				1			1	1.1

Figure 13. Mass Scaling Options